t 

No. 71620-4-1 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION ONE 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

HUGH WILCOX, 

Appellant. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE 
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY 

The Honorable Jeffrey Ramsdell 

BRIEF OF APPELLANT 

Susan F. Wilk 
Attorney for Appellant 

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 

Seattle, Washington 98101 
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The aggravating circumstance in support of the exceptional 

sentence - that the victim's injuries substantially exceeded the level of 

bodily harm necessary to support the elements of the offense - is void for 

vagueness, and the constitutional violation cannot be cured by de novo 

appellate review. 

2. The trial court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence where 

the State did not prove that the conduct producing the harm was 

significantly more serious than in the typical offense. 

3. The trial court erred in refusing the defense proposed 

instruction that would have required the jury to find that Wilcox's conduct 

exceeded the level necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. A vague statute violates the Fourteenth Amendment's due 

process clause because it fails to provide the public with adequate notice 

of what conduct is proscribed and does not protect the public from 

arbitrary or ad hoc enforcement. Should this Court conclude that the 

aggravating circumstance contained in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y) violates due 

process vagueness prohibitions? (Assignment of Error 1) 

2. In enacting statutory aggravating circumstances following the 

United States Supreme Court's decision in Blakely v. Washington, 542 
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us. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004), the Legislature 

indicated that it intended to codify these circumstances as they existed at 

common law. Laws of2005, Chapter 68, § 1. At common law prior to 

Blakely, the "conduct more egregious than typical" aggravating factor 

required the State to prove that the conduct producing the harm, and the 

harm caused, were more egregious than in the typical case. Where the 

State did not prove, and the jury did not find, that Wilcox's conduct 

substantially exceeded the level necessary to satisfy the elements of the 

offense of assault in the second degree, must Wilcox's resulting 

exceptional sentence be vacated? (Assignments of Error 2,3) 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

Hugh Wilcox and Stephen Jennings were roommates in a house in 

Lake City Way they shared with Wilcox's wife, Cheryl, I Michael Munoz, 

and Kara Anderson. RP 690.2 Wilcox and Jennings had known each 

other for several years before they started living together. Jennings, who 

was gay, was attracted to Wilcox, and this caused tension in Wilcox's 

relationship with his wife. RP 691-92. Jennings was also a 

I Because Cheryl and Hugh Wilcox share a common last name, Cheryl Wilcox 
is referred to in this briefby her first name. No disrespect is intended. 

2 Pretrial and trial transcripts are contained in consecutively paginated volumes, 
and are referenced in this brief as "RP" followed by page number. The sentencing 
hearing is referenced in this brief as "RP (Sentencing)" followed by page number. 
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methamphetamine addict, which affected his mood and emotional 

stability. RP 490. 

On November 7, 2012, Jenning was coming down off a 

methamphetamine high. He had woken up on the couch and was irritable. 

RP 499. He and Cheryl argued. RP 502, 692-93. Wilcox intervened. 

What happened next is not clear. 

According to Cheryl, when the argument started, Jennings was on 

the couch. She left the room to go to the bathroom. RP 693. She was 

gone no more than a "few seconds"; when she returned Jennings was 

sitting on the floor holding his head. RP 695-96. 

Anderson witnessed part of the altercation between Wilcox and 

Jennings. RP 626. She saw Wilcox yell at Jennings and push him on his 

forehead with the palm of his hand. RP 625. She then left the room. 

While she was gone, she did not hear any loud noises, but when she came 

back into the room, she saw Jennings on the floor with his arms around 

Wilcox, obviously injured. RP 628-29, 632. 

Due to the apparent severity of Jennings's injuries, Munoz and 

Wilcox carried Jennings to Munoz's truck and rushed him to the 

emergency room at Northwest Hospital. RP 610-13. At the hospital, it 

was determined that Jennings had suffered a severe compressed skull 

fracture in the left temporal bone and significant hemorrhaging, and that it 

3 



would be necessary to transfer him to a level one medical center for 

immediate surgery. RP 299, 330. Jennings was taken to Harborview 

Medical Center, where he remained until February 26, 2013. RP 545, 573. 

The brain injury that Jennings suffered left him with lasting severe 

deficits, including partial paralysis, significant speech impairments, and an 

impaired ability to swallow. RP 575-76. 

Wilcox was tried on charges of assault in the first degree and 

assault in the second degree with an allegation that the level of injury 

suffered substantially exceeded the level of necessary to satisfy the 

elements of the crime, pursuant to RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y). CP 8-9. The 

jury acquitted him of assault in the first degree, but convicted him of 

assault in the second degree and by special verdict unanimously found that 

the aggravating circumstance had been proven. CP 61-62. The trial court 

relied on the jury's special verdict to impose an exceptional sentence of 73 

months incarceration. RP (Sentencing) 15. Wilcox appeals. CP 78-79. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

1. The aggravating circumstance requiring the jury to 
find the victim's injuries "substantially exceed" the 
level necessary to establish the elements of the 
offense violates due process vagueness 
prohibitions, and the violation cannot be cured by 
de novo appellate review. 

The Fourteenth Amendment's due process vagueness doctrine has 

a twofold purpose: (1) to provide the public with adequate notice of what 

conduct is proscribed and (2) to protect the public from arbitrary or ad hoc 

enforcement. City of Bellevue v. Lorang, 140 Wn.2d 19,30,992 P.2d 496 

(2000); State v. Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197,203,26 P.3d 890 (2001). A 

law violates due process vagueness prohibitions if either requirement is 

satisfied. Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 177, 795 P .2d 693 (1990) 

(internal citation omitted). The party challenging the prohibition has the 

burden of overcoming the presumption of constitutionality. rd. 

"A vague law impermissibly delegates basic policy matters to 

policemen, judges, and juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective 

basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory 

application." Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 109,92 S.Ct. 

2294, 33 L.Ed.2d 222 (1972). Laws which impart an uncommon degree 

of subjectivity to the jury's consideration of a fact are subject to 

invalidation on due process vagueness grounds. As the Supreme Court 
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has stated, a criminal statute that "leaves judges and jurors free to decide, 

without any legally fixed standards, what is prohibited and what is not in 

each particular case," violates due process. Giacco v. Pennsylvania, 382 

U.S. 399,402-03,86 S.Ct. 518,15 L.Ed.2d 447 (1966). 

The instructions on the aggravating circumstance contained in 

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y) violated due process vagueness prohibitions 

because the requirement that the jury find that Jennings' injuries 

"substantially exceeded" the level necessary to establish the elements of 

the offense is so subjective as to render it standardless. Further, the 

court's failure to accord those aggravating circumstances a narrowing 

construction that would have saved them from constitutional infirmity 

requires reversal. 

a. The instructions on aggravating circumstances were 
unconstitutionally vague. 

Before Blakely established that the SRA violated the Sixth 

Amendment right to a jury trial and Fourteenth Amendment right to due 

process, based on the faulty premise that they involved matters of judicial 

sentencing discretion, due process vagueness challenges to aggravating 

circumstances were generally deemed "theoretically and analytically 

unsound" and thus not given serious consideration or rejected out of hand 

by the appellate courts of this state. See ~ State v. Jacobsen, 92 Wn. 
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App. 958, 966, 965 P.2d 1140 (1998); State v. Owens, 95 Wn. App 618, 

628-29,976 P.2d 656 (1999). In Jacobsen, the Court stated, 

Because there is no constitutional right to sentencing 
guidelines--or, more generally, to a less discretionary 
application of sentences than that permitted prior to the 
Guidelines--the limitations the Guidelines place on a 
judge's discretion cannot violate a defendant's right to due 
process by reason of being vague. It therefore follows that 
the Guidelines cannot be unconstitutionally vague as 
applied to [the defendant] in this case. Even vague 
guidelines cabin discretion more than no guidelines at all. 
What a defendant may call arbitrary and capricious, the 
legislature may call discretionary, and the Constitution 
permits legislatures to lodge a considerable amount of 
discretion with judges in devising sentences. 

Jacobsen, 92 Wn. App. at 966 (quoting United States v. Wivell, 893 F.2d 

156, 159 (8th Cir. 1990)). It was also assumed that because judges would 

factor their own awareness of the "typical" case into their assessment 

whether an aggravating circumstance had been established, the 

subjectivity of certain aggravating circumstances would be minimized, 

further reducing the likelihood of a due process violation. State v. 

Nordby, 106 Wn.2d 514,518-19,723 P.2d 1117 (1986). Given the now-

irrefutable proposition that aggravating circumstances, as facts which 

increase punishment, operate as elements of a higher offense which must 

be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, the due process vagueness 

inquiry must apply. 
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In the death penalty context, the Supreme Court has held a 

challenged provision is unconstitutionally vague in violation of the Eighth 

Amendment if it "fails to adequately inform juries what they must find to 

impose the death penalty and as a result leaves them and appellate courts 

with the kind of open-ended discretion which was held invalid in Furman 

v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 33 L.Ed.2d 346, 92 S.Ct. 2726 (1972)." 

Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 361, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 

372 (1988). A vague sentencing factor creates "an unacceptable risk of 

randomness," Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 967, 974, 114 S.Ct. 2630, 

129 L.Ed.2d 750 (1994), and for this reason the "channeling and limiting 

of the sentencer's discretion ... is a fundamental constitutional 

requirement for sufficiently minimizing the risk of wholly arbitrary and 

capricious action." Cartwright, 486 U.S at 362 (citations omitted). 

thusly: 

The Court explained the rationale for its holding in Cartwright 

To say that something is 'especially heinous' merely 
suggests that the individual jurors should determine that the 
murder is more than just 'heinous,' whatever that means, 
and an ordinary person could honestly believe that every 
unjustified, intentional taking of human life is 'especially 
heinous.' 

Cartwright, 486 U.S. at 364. 
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Comparably here, reasonable minds will differ on the quantum of 

evidence needed for injuries to "substantially exceed" what is necessary to 

establish "substantial bodily harm." According to statute, 

"Substantial bodily harm" means bodily injury which 
involves a temporary but substantial disfigurement, or 
which causes a temporary but substantial loss or 
impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ, or 
which causes a fracture of any bodily part. 

RCW 9A.04.11 o. 

In State v. Duncalf, 177 Wn.2d 289,300 P.3d 352 (2013), the 

Supreme Court concluded that "[t]he statutory definition of 'substantial 

bodily harm' offers a sufficiently objective definition for jurors to 

compare to a particular victim's injuries and apply the 'substantially 

exceeds' standard of the aggravating factor." Id. at 298. The Court 

reached this conclusion by evaluating other statutes in which the use of the 

term "substantial" or "substantially" did not render the statute 

impermissibly vague. Id. at 297-98 (citations omitted). 

But in so concluding, the Court failed to consider the question in 

light of the fact that a jury evaluating whether the aggravating 

circumstance had been proven must apply "substantially" in light of a 

baseline which it is impossible for jurors to determine with uniformity or 

predictability. According to the statute's language, a jury could conclude 

that "substantial bodily harm" had been established based solely upon 
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proof that the victim had suffered "a fracture of any bodily part." It might 

seem axiomatic that a fracture of the skull is more serious than a fracture 

of a finger, for example, but this is an inherently subjective determination. 

A concert pianist might view a fractured finger as a very substantial 

injury, and might testify accordingly. And a skull fracture might not in 

every instance result in the kind of disability suffered by Jennings. 

The trial evidence established that Jennings may have been 

particularly susceptible to a severe injury because of his history of drug 

use or other physical issues, such as poor bone density or high blood 

pressure. RP 644-46. But a jury, lacking the experience of a trial judge 

and left without concrete definitional instructions, might determine that 

the aggravating circumstance had been established based on evidence that 

to a trial judge, would support imposition of no more than the high end of 

the standard range. It is on these grounds that the court should have 

defined the aggravating circumstance or accorded it a limiting instruction 

to save them from constitutional infirmity. 

b. The court's failure to accord the instructions a 
narrowing construction that would have saved them 
from constitutional infirmity requires reversal. 

Wilcox objected to the aggravating circumstance and requested 

the Court require the jury to find not only that the injury sustained by 

Jennings substantially exceeded the level necessary to satisfy the elements 
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of the offense, but that the conduct giving rise to the injury also exceed 

this level. CP 19-22. The court declined Wilcox's request. RP 735. 

Considering undefined aggravators similar to the one at issue here, 

the Ninth Circuit held that the problem created by the failure to narrow a 

vague aggravator is not cured by de novo appellate review, the remedy 

prescribed by the United States Supreme Court in Walton v. Arizona, 497 

U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111 L.Ed.2d 511 (1990), overruled in part by 

Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 609,122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 156 

(2002). Valerio v. Crawford, 306 F.3d 742, 756-57 (9th Cir. 2002), cert. 

denied sub nom., McDaniel v. Valerio, 538 U.S. 994 (2003). The Court 

reasoned that where an appellate court performs the narrowing 

construction, the court violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment jury trial 

guarantee, because "[i]n performing a Walton analysis, the state appellate 

court is not reviewing a lower court finding for correctness; it is, instead, 

acting as a primary factfinder." Valerio, 306 F.3d at 756-57; but see 

Ybarra v. McDaniel, 656 F.3d 984,996 (9th Cir. 2011) (holding, "even if 

the unconstitutionally vague 'depravity' aggravating factor had been 

appropriately narrowed, we are confident that the jury would nonetheless 

have applied it,,3). 

3 The holding in Ybarra is not in conflict with Valerio. Rather, the Court in 
Ybarra, having concluded that error occurred, proceeded to evaluate the effect of the 
error on the outcome. Ybarra, 656 F.3d at 995 (assessing whether the constitutional error 
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The Supreme Court has not yet resolved whether an appellate court 

may cure the finding of a vague aggravating circumstance by applying a 

narrowing construction. See Bell v. Cone, 543 U.S. 447, 453-54, 125 

S.Ct. 847, 160 L.Ed.2d 881 (2005) (declining to reach issue). However, 

the Valerio Court properly concluded that Walton's prescription for de 

novo review where the jury was the factfinder cannot be undertaken 

without violating the Sixth Amendment. As in Valerio, this Court should 

conclude the trial court's failure to cure the vague instructions on 

aggravating circumstances cannot be rectified by according those 

instructions a narrowing construction on appeal. This Court should 

reverse Wilcox's sentence and remand for resentencing within the 

standard range. 

"had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict"). This 
standard, articulated in Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 637,113 S.Ct. 1710, 123 
L.Ed.2d 353 (1993), is uniquely applied to prisoners seeking federal habeas corpus 
review. 
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2. The exceptional sentence must be vacated because 
the State did not prove that the conduct giving rise 
to the harm exceeded the level necessary to satisfy 
the elements of the offense. 

a. Because the statutory aggravating circumstances were 
designed to codify existing common law aggravating 
factors, the State had to prove that the conduct, and not 
merely the injury, substantially exceeded the level 
necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense. 

In enacting statutory aggravating circumstances following the 

United States Supreme Court's decision in Blakely, the Legislature'S 

intent was to codify existing common law factors. Laws of 2005, Ch. 68, 

§ 1. At common law, the aggravating factor contained in RCW 

9.94A.535(3)(y) was known as the "conduct more egregious than typical" 

aggravating factor. State v. Wilson, 96 Wn. App. 382, 388, 980 P.2d 244 

(1999) (citing Jacobsen, 92 Wn. App. at 970-71), rev. denied, 994 P.2d 

846 (2000); see also State v. Flake, 76 Wn. App. 174, 183,883 P.2d 341 

(1994) ("According to case law, the seriousness of a victim's injuries is a 

valid aggravating factor if 'the conduct producing the harm, and the harm 

produced, were significantly more serious than what is typically involved 

in the crime.") (citations omitted). 

Below, the trial court rejected Wilcox's contention that 

codification of the common law aggravating circumstance required the 

State to prove the conduct that produced Jennings's injuries substantially 
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exceeded the level necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense. RP 

735. The court reasoned that instructing the jury consistent with the 

defense request "would ... make the aggravator for Assault II a nullity" by 

essentially defining Assault in the Second Degree plus the aggravating 

circumstance identically to Assault in the First Degree. But recent 

Supreme Court precedent makes plain that the court's analysis was 

incorrect. 

In State v. Pappas, 176 Wn.2d 188,289 P.3d 634 (2012), the Court 

repudiated the very assumption made by the trial court here. The Court 

stated that RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y) "requires comparison of the victim's 

injuries against the minimum injury necessary to satisfy the offense." 

Pappas, 176 Wn.2d at 192. The Court explained: 

While the jump between statutory categories of harm 
necessarily meets the "substantially exceed" test, injuries 
can "substantially exceed" one category of harm without 
reaching the severity of the next category. This is supported 
by the language ofRCW 9.94A.535(3)(y), which only 
requires that the injuries "substantially exceed," rather than 
a requirement to meet a higher category of harm. 

In other words, the Court construed the Legislature's intent in 

codifying the aggravating circumstance at issue as essentially creating a 

possibility for an intermediary category of offense; something 

"substantially" more severe than a second degree assault, yet not quite 
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meeting the standard of a first-degree assault. Once the jury makes the 

finding that the aggravating circumstance has been proven, it is for the 

judge to decide whether the finding is a "substantial and compelling 

reason" to impose an exceptional sentence. Id. 

The trial court's summary rejection of Wilcox's argument that 

codification of the aggravating circumstance as it existed at common law 

required the State to prove conduct more egregious than typical was 

incorrect in light of Pappas. This Court should conclude that the 

codification of this aggravating circumstance imposed on the State the 

burden of proving not only that the injury substantially exceeded the level 

necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense, but also that the conduct 

producing this injury exceeded this level.4 

b. The State did not prove Wilcox's conduct substantially 
exceeded the level necessary to satisfy the elements of 
the offense. 

Assuming the Legislature meant what it said when it indicated that 

the aggravating circumstances in RCW 9.94A.535 were intended to codify 

aggravating factors as they existed at common law, this Court must 

conclude that the State had to present proof of egregious conduct by 

Wilcox. But the etiology of Jennings's injuries was a mystery. 

4 If the statute indeed imposed this burden on the State, then the jury instruction 
proposed by Wilcox correctly stated the law, and it was error for the court to fail to issue 
it.

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