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

argument between Cheryl and Jennings, and that he had cracked 

Jennings's skull in the process. RP 559-60. Wilcox acknowledged 

that he had held Jennings down by his head and that he heard it 

"crunch." Ex. 13 at 22:08,22:25 . Additionally, Wilcox told a friend 
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that he put Jennings's head "down with force" and that "it sounded 

like a chicken bone crunching." Ex. 17, track 4 at 1 :09. 

Northwest Hospital staff transferred Jennings to Harborview 

Medical Center for emergency brain surgery upon determining that 

he had suffered a massive brain bleed and a severe compressed 

skull fracture . RP 299, 330. Jennings's skull had been indented 

and shattered into multiple "jagged little pieces," causing a large 

and potentially fatal amount of bleeding in his brain .3 RP 539, 

545-46, 548. Additionally, the midline of Jennings's brain had 

shifted 11 millimeters, a significant amount. RP 335. 

At Harborview, doctors removed part of Jennings's skull and 

a blood clot in an effort to relieve the pressure on his brain . 

RP 545, 575. Following the surgery, Jennings required a nearly 

four-month stay at Harborview in the intensive care and in-patient 

rehabilitation units. RP 573-74. Jennings was discharged to a 

nursing facility and a guardian was appointed to make medical care 

decisions on his behalf. RP 581 . 

By the time of trial, Jennings was still living in the nursing 

facility, paralyzed on the right side of his body, forced to use a 

3 A defense expert likened the "little sharp shards of bone" shoved into 
Jennings's brain to the fragments that result when someone "steps on a Dorito." 
RP 644 . 
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wheelchair, and unable to communicate easily. RP 446, 451 . 

Jennings's treating physician testified that he is not expected to 

make a full recovery. RP 581. 

Prior to closing , Wilcox proposed that the court amend the 

aggravating circumstance instruction to require the State to prove 

that he intended to cause Jennings great bodily harm. CP 22; 

RP 734-35. Wilcox argued that the proposed intent element was 

required under the case law, even though it was not included in the 

pattern instruction . CP 22; RP 734-35. The State opposed the 

amendment, contending that neither the statute nor the case law 

required a finding of intent. Supp CP _ (sub 67, Trial 

Memorandum/State ). 

The trial court agreed, reasoning that requiring the State to 

prove that Wilcox intended to cause Jennings great bodily harm 

would transform the aggravating circumstance instruction into "an 

instruction that for all intents and purposes is the instruction for 

assault in the first degree. ,,4 RP 735. The court instructed the jury 

that to find Wilcox guilty of the aggravating circumstance, it must 

find that "the victim's injuries substantially exceeded the level of 

4 First-degree assault requires the intent to inflict great bodily harm, unlike 
second-degree assault which requires the reckless infliction of substantial bodily 
harm. Compare RCW 9A.36.011 (elements of first-degree assault) , with RCW 
9A.36 021 (elements of second-degree assault) . 
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bodily harm necessary to constitute substantial bodily harm," 

specifically that "the victim suffered great bodily harm." CP 49. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. WILCOX'S VAGUENESS CHALLENGE TO THE 
AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE FAILS. 

For the first time on appeal, Wilcox argues that the trial court 

erred by imposing an exceptional sentence based on the 

"substantially exceeds" aggravating circumstance because it is 

unconstitutionally vague under the due process clause. Wilcox's 

claim fails on multiple grounds. First, the sentencing guidelines are 

not subject to a void-for-vagueness challenge under established 

Washington Supreme Court precedent. Second, Wilcox waived a 

vagueness challenge to the aggravating circumstance instruction 

by failing to object, or propose a clarifying instruction, at the time of 

trial. Third, even if Wilcox could raise a vagueness challenge, his 

claim fails because the "substantially exceeds" aggravating 

circumstance was not unconstitutionally vague as applied to him. 

a. Exceptional Sentence Aggravating 
Circumstances Are Not Subject To Due 
Process Vagueness Challenges. 

Under the due process clause, a statute is void for 

vagueness if it either (1) fails to define the offense with sufficient 
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precision that a person of ordinary intelligence can understand it, or 

(2) it does not provide standards sufficiently specific to prevent 

arbitrary enforcement. State v. Eckblad , 152 Wn.2d 515, 518, 98 

P.3d 1184 (2004) . Both prongs of the vagueness doctrine focus on 

laws that proscribe or mandate conduct. State v. Baldwin, 150 

Wn .2d 448,458, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003). 

The Supreme Court has previously held that aggravating 

circumstances are not subject to vagueness challenges under the 

due process clause because they "do not define conduct nor do 

they allow for arbitrary arrest and criminal prosecution by the 

State." & at 459. Because the guidelines do not set penalties, a 

citizen reading them would not have to guess at the possible 

consequences of engaging in criminal conduct. & Consequently, 

the due process concerns that underlie the void-for-vagueness 

doctrine have "no application" in the context of sentencing 

guidelines. & Further, the guidelines do not create a 

"constitutionally protectable liberty interest" because they do not 

require that a specific sentence be imposed. & at 461 . 

Wilcox does not acknowledge Baldwin , let alone argue that it 

is incorrect and harmful as required to overturn established 

precedent. State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798 , 804 , 194 P.3d 212 
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(2008) . Instead, Wilcox appears to argue that a due process 

vagueness challenge is possible in light of Blakely v. Washington, 

542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004) . Wilcox, 

however, does not provide any legal argument explaining how 

Blakely, a decision firmly rooted in the Sixth Amendment right to a 

jury trial, bears on the due process vagueness doctrine which exists 

to provide notice to the public, and protect it from arbitrary state 

enforcement. 5 Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 458. The "substantially 

exceeds" aggravating circumstance does not define conduct, 

authorize arrest, inform the public of criminal penalties, or vary 

legislatively defined criminal penalties. 

The Court's analysis in Baldwin remains valid after Blakely. 

The aggravating circumstances in RCW 9.94A.535 do not purport 

to define criminal conduct. As the Supreme Court has stated, "an 

aggravating factor is not the functional equivalent of an essential 

element." State v. Siers, 174 Wn.2d 269, 271,274 P.3d 358 

(2012) . Instead, the statute lists accompanying circumstances that 

"may" justify a trial court's imposition of a higher sentence. 

RCW 9.94A.535. A jury's finding of an aggravating circumstance 

5 Post-Blakely, the Washington Supreme Court has declined to resolve whether 
Baldwin remains good law. See State v. Duncalf, 177 Wn.2d 289, 296, 300 P.3d 
352 (2013) (finding it "unnecessary to address the broad question of whether 
Baldwin survives Blakely"). 
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does not mandate an exceptional sentence . The trial court still 

must decide whether the aggravating circumstance is a substantial 

and compelling reason to impose an exceptional sentence.6 

The doctrine of stare decisis provides that a court must 

adhere to a prior ruling unless the defendant can make "a clear 

showing" that the rule is "incorrect and harmful." In re Stranger 

Creek , 77 Wn.2d 649 , 653 , 466 P.2d 508 (1970) ; see also State v. 

Kier, 164 Wn .2d 798, 804, 194 P.3d 212 (2008) (recognizing that 

precedent is "not lightly set aside," and that "the burden is on the 

party seeking to overrule a decision to show that it is both incorrect 

and harmful"). Because Wilcox fails to show that the Court's 

decision in Baldwin is incorrect and harmful, this Court must adhere 

to precedent holding that exceptional sentence aggravating 

circumstances are not subject to a vagueness challenge. 

Nonetheless, to the extent that Wilcox relies on Eighth 

Amendment death penalty cases to support his vagueness 

challenge, his claim should be rejected . Wilcox cites several 

decisions of the United States Supreme Court addressing 

vagueness challenges under the Eighth Amendment. Brief of 

6 For example, in Siers, the jury found the existence of an aggravating factor but 
the trial court declined to impose an exceptional sentence. Siers, 174 Wn .2d at 
272 -73. 
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Appellant at 8-9 . However, he fails to cite any authority holding that 

a vagueness challenge under the Eighth Amendment applies 

outside the death penalty context. Several courts, including this 

Court, have held that it does not. See State v. E.A.J ., 116 Wn. 

App. 777 , 792 , 67 P.3d 518 (2003) (rejecting Eighth Amendment 

vagueness challenge to juvenile manifest injustice) ; Holman v. 

Page, 95 F.3d 481,487 (7th Cir. 1996) (holding that Eighth 

Amendment vagueness inquiry does not apply to non-capital 

cases) , overruled on other grounds, Owens v. United States, 387 

F.3d 607 (7th Cir. 2004) . 

The theoretical underpinnings of a vagueness challenge 

under the Eighth Amendment do not support its application outside 

capital cases . It originates in the notion that "where discretion is 

afforded a sentencing body on a matter so grave as the 

determination of whether a human life should be taken or spared, 

that discretion must be suitably directed and limited so as to 

minimize the risk of wholly arbitrary and capricious action ." Lewis 

V. Jeffers, 497 U.S. 764, 774,110 S. Ct. 3092, 111 L. Ed . 2d 606 

(1990) (quoting Gregg V. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 189, 96 S. Ct. 

2909, 49 L. Ed . 2d 859 (1976)). Claims of vagueness directed at 

capital punishment aggravating circumstances are made under the 
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Eighth Amendment on the basis that open-ended discretion to 

impose the death penalty is unconstitutional. Maynard v. 

Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 361-62, 108 S. Ct. 1853, 100 L. Ed . 2d 

372 (1988). This body of law has not been applied outside the 

death penalty context. 

Even if Wilcox could assert an Eighth Amendment 

vagueness claim , the court's review is "quite deferentiaL" Jones v. 

United States, 527 U.S. 373,400, 119 S. Ct. 2090, 144 L. Ed . 2d 

370 (1999) . "As long as an aggravating factor has a core meaning 

that criminal juries should be capable of understanding , it will pass 

constitutional muster." kL. In Jones, the Court rejected an Eighth 

Amendment vagueness challenge to an aggravating factor that 

asked the jury to "consider whether the victim was especially 

vulnerable to petitioner's attack." kL. 

For reasons discussed more fully below, the "substantially 

exceeds" aggravating circumstance had a core meaning that a jury 

could understand. As Wilcox acknowledges, the Washington 

Supreme Court concluded in State v. Duncalf that the statutory 

definition of "substantial bodily harm," the level of injury required to 

prove the crime charged here, "offers a sufficiently objective 

definition for jurors to compare to a particular victim's injuries and 
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apply the 'substantially exceeds' standard of the aggravating 

factor." 177 Wn. 2d 289, 298, 300 P.3d 352 (2013) . Thus, even 

assuming that Wilcox could assert an Eighth Amendment 

vagueness claim, his claim would fail under Duncalf and the 

deferential standard of review. 

b. Wilcox Has Waived His Vagueness 
Challenge To The Aggravating 
Circumstance Instruction. 

Wilcox claims that the aggravating circumstance instruction 

is unconstitutionally vague. However, he failed to propose any 

additional or clarifying instructions remedying the alleged 

vagueness. At trial, Wilcox proposed in argument and briefing that 

trial court amend the aggravating circumstance instruction to 

include an element of intent. RP 734-35 ("I would ask to provide a 

jury instruction that included that he needed to have intended to 

cause this great bodily harm."); CP 22 ("ask the trial court to instruct 

the jury that in order to find an aggravating factor .. . the jury must 

find that Hugh Wilcox acted with intent to cause Great Bodily 

Harm"). Wilcox never suggested that the court should add the 

element of intent to cure the vagueness he now alleges. 

The Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly held that a 

defendant who believes a jury instruction is unconstitutionally 
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vague has a ready remedy--proposal of a clarifying instruction--and 

that the failure to propose further definition precludes appellate 

review. In State v. Fowler, 114 Wn .2d 59, 69, 785 P.2d 808 (1990), 

overruled on other grounds by State v. Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479 , 

486-87,816 P.2d 718 (1991) , the defendant attempted to 

challenge the term "unlawful force" in the jury instructions as 

unconstitutionally vague . The Court held that the claim was 

waived : 

Although Fowler did take exception to the assault 
instruction proposed by the court, his exception did 
not involve the potential vagueness or overbreadth of 
the court's definition of the term "unlawful force ." His 
objection cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. 

114 Wn .2d at 69; see also State v. Payne, 25 Wn.2d 407, 414, 171 

P.2d 227 (1946) (defendant who did not take exception to jury 

instructions waived claim that they were vague and confusing). 

The reasons for this waiver rule have been explained as 

follows : 

Vagueness analysis is employed to ensure that 
ordinary people can understand what conduct is 
proscribed and to protect against arbitrary 
enforcement of law. See City of Bellevue v. Lorang, 
140 Wn .2d 19, 30, 992 P.2d 496 (2000) . This 
rationale applies to statutes and official policies, not to 
jury instructions. Unlike citizens who must try to 
conform their conduct to a vague statute, a criminal 
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defendant who believes a jury instruction is vague has 
a ready remedy: proposal of a clarifying instruction. 

State v. Whitaker, 133 Wn. App. 199, 233, 135 P.3d 923 (2006) 

(emphasis added); see also State v. Releford, 148 Wn. App . 478, 

493-94, 200 P.3d 729 (2009) (holding that the defendant waived his 

vagueness challenge to a jury instruction by failing to object to the 

instruction at trial). 

Accordingly, Wilcox's claim of error regarding the alleged 

vagueness of the aggravating circumstance instruction is waived . 

A defendant who believes an instruction is vague should request a 

clarifying instruction at the time of trial to ensure that the jury is 

properly instructed. To hold otherwise would encourage 

defendants to delay raising such issues until they receive an 

adverse verdict. Because Wilcox did not propose any language 

clarifying the alleged vagueness, he has waived claiming that the 

instruction was vague. 

c. The "Substantially Exceeds" Aggravating 
Circumstance Is Not Unconstitutionally 
Vague As Applied To Wilcox. 

Even if the aggravating circumstance statute is subject to a 

vagueness challenge, Wilcox's claim would fail. The party 

challenging a statute under the "void for vagueness" doctrine bears 
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the burden of overcoming a presumption of constitutionality , i.e., 

"a statute is presumed to be constitutional unless it appears 

unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. " State v. Halstien, 

122 Wn.2d 109, 118, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) . 

A statute fails to provide the required notice if it prohibits or 

requires an act in terms so vague that "men of common intelligence 

must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its 

application." State v. Watson, 160 Wn.2d 1, 7, 154 P.3d 909 

(2007) (quoting Connally v. Gen. Constr. Co., 269 U.S. 385, 391, 

46 S. Ct. 126, 83 L. Ed . 322 (1926)). 

Nonetheless, courts have long recognized that "[s]ome 

measure of vagueness is inherent in the use of language." Haley v. 

Med . Disciplinary Bd ., 117 Wn.2d 720, 740, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991) ; 

Grayned v. Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 110, 92 S. Ct. 2294, 33 L. Ed . 

2d 222 (1972) ("Condemned to the use of words , we can never 

expect mathematical certainty from our language."). A statute is 

not unconstitutionally vague merely because a person cannot 

predict with complete certainty the exact point at which his actions 

constitute prohibited conduct. Watson, 160 Wn.2d at 7. 

Because Wilcox 's vagueness challenge does not implicate 

the First Amendment, he must demonstrate that the aggravating 
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circumstance is unconstitutionally vague as applied to him. City of 

Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 182, 795 P.2d 693 (1990). 

A challenged statute "is tested for unconstitutional vagueness by 

inspecting the actual conduct of the party who challenges the 

ordinance and not by examining hypothetical situations at the 

periphery of the ordinance's scope." Douglass, 115 Wn.2d at 

182-83. Here, the "substantially exceeds" aggravating 

circumstance is not unconstitutionally vague when considered in 

light of Jennings's injuries . 

The aggravating circumstance at issue required that the jury 

find that Jennings's injuries substantially exceed "substantial bodily 

harm," the level of bodily injury required to prove second-degree 

assault. RCW 9A.36 .011. The trial court's aggravating

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